
TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL  

Town Hall, 24 High Street, Tenterden, Kent. TN30 6AN 
 

Website: www.tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01580 762271 

 

 

Email: townhall@tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk  
Facsimile: 01580 765647 

 

 

Tuesday, 6 April 2021 
EXTERNAL COMMITTEE 

 
Notice is given that a Virtual meeting of the EXTERNAL COMMITTEE will be 

held on MONDAY, 12TH APRIL, 2021 starting at 7.00 pm. 
Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84231647890  

 
All members are summoned to attend for the purpose of considering and 
resolving upon the business to be transacted at the meeting. 

 
Phil Burgess, Town Clerk. 

 
Councillors Serving: M. Carter, J. Crawford, Mrs. J. Curteis (Vice-Chair), M. Hickmott, K. Mulholland, J. Nelson 
(Chair), R. Parkin and R. Quinton. 
Substitutes in the event of members’ absence: Cllrs Mrs. S.  Ferguson, Dr.  L. Lovelidge and Mrs. K. Walder. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE & SUBSTITUTING COUNCILLORS.  
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.  

 
3.   MINUTES. 

To consider and, if approved, confirm and sign the minutes and reports of 
the meeting held on 8th March 2021 as a correct record. 
 

4.   MATTERS ARISING.  
 

5.   REPRESENTATION FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC. 
Members of the public may make personal representations at this meeting by giving written notice of a request to speak and indicating 

briefly the matter of interest or relevant agenda item to the Town Clerk or Deputy Town Clerk no later than 12 noon on the day of the 
meeting. Provided always that speakers are resident in a ward of the Council and, give their full name and address prior to speaking, 

the committee Chairman may (or may choose not to) invite individuals to speak at the relevant point in the meeting. Speeches may 

not exceed three minutes duration and speakers may not participate in any subsequent debate between committee members. At the 

Chairman’s discretion, only one speech may be made in support of each side of any contentious issue. 

 
6.   COUNCILLORS' QUESTIONS. 

At the Chairman’s discretion, Councillors may ask a question about any item relevant to this committee that is not on the agenda. 

Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. An answer may take the form of a direct oral answer or reference to a 

Town Council publication. Where a reply cannot be conveniently given at this meeting, an oral or written answer may be circulated at a 

later date. All councillors present will be permitted to contribute to the debate on agenda items but only members of this committee will 
be permitted to vote. 

 

7.   TENTERDEN LEISURE CENTRE TRUST. 
A presentation from the Tenterden Leisure Centre Trust regarding their 

2021 Strategy. * 
 (Pages 1 - 11) 
 

8.   SUB-COMMITTEE & WORKING GROUP REPORTS. 
 

(a) High Street Regeneration Sub-committee.  To note the report of a 
meeting held on 11th March 2021. * 
 

(b) Climate Change Sub-committee.  To note the report of a meeting 
held on 25th March 2021. * 

Public Document Pack

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84231647890


 

 
(c) Covid-19 Sub-committee.  To note the report of a meeting held on 

15th March 2021. * 

 
(d) Tenterden Cinema Focus Group.  To note the report of a meeting 

held on 29th March 2021. * 
 (Pages 12 - 25) 
 

9.   TOWNNET SHOP WATCH RADIO. 
To consider supporting the implementation of the Scheme in Tenterden & 

St. Michaels. * 
 (Pages 26 - 28) 
 

10.   CLIMATE CHANGE SUB-COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP. 
To consider appointing Cllr. Carter to the Sub-committee. * 

 (Page 29) 
 

11.   COOMBE LANE PARKING. 

To consider canvassing residents of Coombe Lane regarding the 
installation of double yellow lines from the entrance to Coombe Lane 

(next to The Vine) to the widening of the Lane. * 
 (Pages 30 - 31) 

 
12.   PUBLIC FOOTPATH IN FRONT OF HENLEY VIEW. 

To consider the next step regarding the installation of a public footpath in 

front of Henley View, St. Michaels. * 
 (Pages 32 - 33) 

 
13.   MEMORIAL BENCHES ON THE HIGH STREET. 

To consider replacing up to three older memorial benches in the High 

Street with new benches in 2021 and provide residents with the option of 
donating a memorial plaque. * 

 (Page 34) 
 

14.   PORTABLE TOILETS FOR TRIBUTES IN THE PARK EVENT. 

To consider funding three portable toilets for the Tributes in the Park 
Event on 24th July 2021 as replacements for the toilet block. * 

 (Page 35) 
 

15.   LITTER PICK 2021. 

To note the next Community Litter Pick to take place on Sunday, 13th 
June 2021 and consider the loaning of the Town Council’s equipment to 

other organised litter picks within the Town. * 
 (Pages 36 - 37) 
 

16.   CORRESPONDENCE. 
None. 

 
17.   MINOR MATTERS. 

None. 

 
THE COMMITTEE WILL BE MOVED INTO CLOSED SESSION. 
Under the Public Bodies (Admissions to meetings) Act 1960, the public and press will be excluded from the closed session due to the confidential 

nature of this part of the meeting which involves the discussion of confidential staffing matters and confidential financial negotiations. 

 

18.   LAND ISSUES. 
Confidential Document 728A refers. 
 (Pages 38 - 40) 



 

 
END OF CLOSED SESSION.  
 

19.   ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED TO THE 
CHAIR. 
No decision may lawfully be made under this item but matters which involve no more than an exchange of information may be 

discussed. 

 

 
 
End. 

 
Attachments and tabled documents can be obtained from the Town Clerk’s office or downloaded from www.tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk. 



Tenterden 
Leisure 
Centre 
Trust. 

STRATEGY 2021

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 7



Quality, Care 
& 

Excellence 
Development

&
Aspiration 

Safety
&

Safeguarding

Partnership
&

Collaboration 

Community, 
Health

&
Wellbeing 

Accessibility
&

Inclusivity

P
age 2



Executive Summary                          
Background   
Future Strategy           
Financial Implications                        
Partnership Workings                       

Appendix  A  - Storyboard 6      
Appendix  B  - Bursary Highlights                          7
Appendix  C  - Key Objectives                                  8
Appendix  D - Partnerships and Collaborations    9
Appendix  E  - References                                       10

3
4
4
5
5

CONTENTS 

P
age 3



Executive Summary
With the launch of the Sport England 10-year strategy (2021-2031), the post Covid-19 
environment and a new service provider contract being drafted for the Tenterden Leisure 
Centre, Trustees have determined to revisit their own strategy, last updated in 2010.

The Trust continues to manage the contracted supplier of the leisure centre services and is 
currently involved in the retendering for the provision of these services as the existing 
contract comes to an end. The immediate priority for the Trust, Serco and Ashford Borough 
Council is to return the centre to its pre-covid levels of use. However, the strategy also tries 
to look beyond this recognising the role the Trust has in the wider community.

The new contract is expected to include provisions for the improvement of facilities at 
Tenterden Leisure Centre (TLC) funded jointly by the Trust, the service provider and Ashford 
Borough Council. The Trust will continue to oversee the service contract and measure 
performance against the five pillars; Support, Encourage, Increase, Source Funding & 
Collaborate set out in this new strategy, using key performance indicators. The Trust has 
recently recruited three new Trustees who bring a welcome and fresh level of expertise and 
specific experience, which will aid and support effective and closer control of the ongoing 
management.     The new strategy draws on the principles of responsible leadership, looks to 
build on the success of the past 20 years and recognises the opportunities and areas where 
new focus and energy needs to be directed to deliver the Trust’s objectives.

Our new strategy is based on our core values and focuses on five 
pillars, namely in Tenterden and the surrounding areas.

1. Support - the provision of a wide range 
of quality facilities and programmes to encourage 
wellbeing and reduce ill-health and obesity.

2. Encourage – accessibility and inclusivity 
In all areas and at all levels of participation.

3. Increase – opportunity, training and 
development to raise standards.

4. Source Funding – and equipment to 
distribute and be used in line with our objectives. 

5. Collaborate - with agencies in 
Tenterden and surrounding areas to improve the 
opportunity for activity. 

“To provide facilities in the interest of social welfare and 
education with the object of improving the conditions of life for 
those persons living in Tenterden and surrounding areas to need 

of such facilities through the provision of a community and 
sports centre and other recreational facilities and activities."

3

P
age 4



To do this the Trust will need to have a diverse source of funding 
with both guaranteed regular income and grant sourced funds.
the Trust will look to review its progress and performance against 
this strategy each year, flexing and prioritising future objectives to 
take advantage of the changes and impact our activities have 
created. Excellence in governance and clearly identifiable measures 
of performance will demonstrate success and impact and feature 
strongly as key elements of the new strategy.

Background
The storyboard in Appendix A demonstrates the journey and key 
milestones in the evolution of The Tenterden Leisure Centre Trust. 
Formed in 2002 and registered as a charity in 2003, the Trust is 
proud of its achievements to date, including;

• Circa £120,000 donated to help local, budding, elite, sporting 
young people across 28 different sports bursaries Appendix B.

• Employment opportunities created directly and indirectly 
through the recruitment, training and development of local staff 
and individuals employed directly and indirectly by the Trust in 
the form of leisure staff, coaches and individuals progressing 
careers in health, wellbeing, leisure and sport.

• Facilities for healthy exercise and leisure provided by the Leisure 
Centre to date.

Trustees over the life of The Leisure Centre have successfully 
negotiated two management contract agreements, bringing 
significant investment into upgrading and improving the facilities at 
the leisure centre and attracting an annual throughput of around 
400,000 visits with a core membership of over 1,300 local 
residents.

During the last 10 years, the Trust also diverted £5k of its 
core £20k annual operating subsidy to assist in the 
funding of significant improvements to the infrastructure 
of the centre.

Working with Ashford Borough Council, Kent County 
Council, Tenterden Town Council and a wide variety of 
local stakeholders including the local Health Trust, 
Chamber of Commerce and Civic Society and especially 
with our leisure operator, the Trust has introduced 
incentives for employees and residents to increase 
activity; expanded children’s swimming and dry side 
sports activities and launched health and wellbeing 
initiatives including a Cardio Rehabilitation scheme linked 
directly with the local GP Surgery to support over 250 
high risk patients returning to regular exercise.

The population of Tenterden currently stands at just over 
8,000 and is expected to grow significantly with an 
additional 475 new homes identified in the Ashford 
Borough Council Local Plan. Catering for this rapid growth 
and dealing with the national and local challenges of an 
aging population, increasing obesity and pressures on the 
NHS is a priority for the Trust. Sport England research (2015) 
suggests that every non-active person in the UK costs the 
NHS between £1,750 and £6,900 p.a. and the Trust 
recognises the positive role it can play in mitigating these 
impacts through the positive impacts of exercise on health 
and wellbeing.

Future Strategy
Our new strategy recognises that the Trust needs to 
continue and do more of what it does well, learning from 
our experiences and feedback, building on these initiatives 
innovating and refreshing when appropriate to remain 
relevant and popular in this increasingly digital age.

In 2010, the Trust’s strategy set out to deliver an excellent 
Leisure Centre which provides a wide range of health 
enhancing activities to all members of the local community. 
This was achieved through a team of welcoming and 
motivated staff; a well-maintained building and facilities 
and an expanding and innovative programme of activities 
for all ages at affordable prices. Ten years on, the 
environment has changed significantly in the expectation of 
the customer, the community demographics, the local 
community networks and the National, County, Borough 
and Town development strategies.

4

P
age 5



The long-term consequences of the COVID-19 Pandemic are 
unknown, but it is likely to have accelerated social change. Our 
strategy of support for the digital delivery of wellbeing services, 
maintaining the highest standards for safeguarding and health and 
safety and will help to ensure continued expansion of networks in 
the Tenterden and area will ensure maximum engagement and 
participation alongside existing popular activities.

The Trust has set out some clear objectives for the short, medium 
and long term with identifiable measures and milestones against 
which to track our progress and, as appropriate, re-set our vision to 
ensure it remains relevant (Appendix C).

Financial Implications
To deliver, the Trust will set itself the challenge of increasing its 
resource base annually. The Trust recognises the importance of a 
successfully run leisure centre to maximise the source of its funds 
and drive new grant funding opportunities. As the strategy evolves 
detailed financial plans will be developed including 3-year forecasts.
The Trust’s income is received directly from the Leisure Centre’s 
lease, annual grants and donations. Any funds raised will be 
distributed between our Five Pillars, with reserves to reflect the 
sustainability of and investment demands on the Trust.
The strategy recognises only those incomes outside the Operating 
Income and Expenditure of the management operator.

Partnership Working
Finally, the Trust recognises that the most effective and efficient use of the Town’s 
resources will be achieved through stronger local, regional and national networks 
and communications with all stakeholders.  To achieve this, the Trust will proactively 
engage in existing and new partnerships and collaborations. A schedule of current 
partners is identified in Appendix D. Serco (More) Leisure, operators of the National 
Sports Centre on behalf of Sport England have been close partners for the past 20 
years, helping The Trust invest in people, facilities and programmes. Managing the 
facilities, sharing updates, systems and procedures to ensure they remain safe, 
efficient, inclusive, clean and well-maintained. We will adopt a proactive approach 
to localism through an aspiration to employ 85% of staff from within the borough 
postcodes.

The strategy recognises only those incomes outside the operating income and 

expenditure of the management operator.

5

P
age 6



APPENDIX A – STORYBOARD 

2002 Incorporated Companies House on 11 June 2002 (044557980).

2003 Major investment & remodeling.

2004 Registered Charity on 13 April 2004 (1103179).

2007 Junior Sports Bursary Scheme Launched.

2008 New interactive water features installed to encourage children, 
families and grandparents.  Delivery of 900 children’s swimming 
lessons per week plus schools’ programme.

2009 Badminton England ‘No More Strings’ campaign.

2010 Second phase of interactive pool features completed.
Major investment (1.1mil) in remodeling pool, gym and café.

2011 Major investment & remodeling of pool, gym, café complete.
Minister of Sport Hugh Robinson MP presents Sports Bursary Awards.

2012 ISO14001 Environmental Management Systems accreditation
Adult membership reaches 1,300.

2013 Reception Team awarded ‘Team of the Year’ in Serco Annual 
Celebration Award.

2014 Cardio rehabilitation partnership with NHS trust
Investment in new Spin Bikes and increase of classes and provision
Trust raises £16,000 in additional funding support.

2015 Secured major investment including expansion of gym and refurbishment of flume rig
Trust fund investment to upgrade staff rest area.  Healthy Life Programme launched. 
Quest quality assurance accreditation.
Refurbishment, including several areas of re-branding.
Pantomime added to events programme.
Community art project involving local schools to create huge poolside mural.

2016 Estimated 7 million visits since Trust formed.
Trust delivers over £115k investment into youth sport through bursary since inception in 
2007.
Major dry changing area refurbishment.
Wet Change Shower refurbishment and installation of family and disabled changing 
facilities.
Major Sports Hall refurbishment.

2017 Pool Covers installed to reduce carbon footprint.
CIMSPA (Chartered Institute for the Management of Sport and Physical Activity) –
Employer Partner.
Operations Manager - runner up ‘Employee of the Year’ Serco Annual Celebration 
Awards.
Tenterden Leisure Centre staff team runners up ‘Employee of the Year’ in Serco annual 
Celebration Awards.
Transition from physical timetables to eco-friendly electronic versions online.

2018 Link with the Swimming Teachers Association to launch swim lesson and teacher training 
programme.
Launch of new digital workshop training programme for fitness instructors
Launch of new More Fitness App for members and non-members alike, which enabled 
customers to book, remove the need for physical cards, and receive rewards/discounts 
for logging workouts as well as helpful fitness tips and advice. 

2019 Partner Youth Sports Trust to offer Head Teachers and pupils aged 14+ from the charity’s 
member schools having access to discounted gym membership. 

2020 Launch of new functional website.
Virtual exercise class programme launched. 6

P
age 7



APPENDIX B – BURSARY HIGHLIGHTS 

The bursary scheme awards financial support to
local, young sports people to help with such costs as
the purchasing of specialist equipment, travelling to
competitions and coaching expenses. As well as up
to three years of financial support, successful
candidates may have the benefit of free
membership of Tenterden Leisure Centre during
their term with the bursary scheme.

Summary
Launched 2007
Total beneficiaries to date:             36
Total bursaries awarded to date:  £120,000
Male/Female awards:                     50:50
Sports activities:                               27

Sporting Accolades
• County Champions
• Age Group Nationals
• UK rankings
• European Rankings
• World Rankings
• Football Clubs: Charlton, Gillingham, Crystal 

Palace
• National Squads (Scotland, England, GB)
• British Age Group Champion
• European Champions 
• World Age Group Champion

Academic Accolades
Our young athletes progressed to:

q Bath University
q Cardiff Met
q Loughborough University (x3)
q London Southbank University 
q Stirling University 

SPORTS 

ATHLETICS 
(hurdles)

ATHLETICS 
(track)

BASKETBALL

BOXING BIATHLON CRICKET

CROSS
COUNTRY 

CYCLING
TRACK

DANCE

EQUESTRIAN FOOTBALL GYMNASTICS

HOCKEY
(field)

JUJITSU KARATE

KAYAKING MODERN
TRIATHLON

NETBALL

PENTATHLON RUGBY
UNION

RHYTHMIC
GYMNSTICS

SAILING SWIMMING TAEKWONDO

TENNIS TRAMPOLINING TETRATHLONS

WATER POLO
7

P
age 8



KEY OBJECTIVES  -
FIVE PILLARS 

ACTIONS (EXAMPLES)

SUPPORT 
Support the provision of a 

wide range of quality 
facilities and programmes 

to encourage wellbeing and 
reduce obesity.

• A commitment to decarbonisation     
Proactive Travel plan (Cycle & EV initiatives              
staff & customers) building efficiency (PVC, 
ground heat pumps, VSDs, DEC) increase 
environmental diversity in landscaping

• Improving security and safety (e.g. Review 
and upgrade of CCTV arrangements around 
the centre and recreation ground)

• Partnership programmes with Local NHS 
Trusts and Ivy Court to enhance social care 
recovery and wellbeing initiatives

ENCOURAGE 
Encourage accessibility and 
inclusivity in all areas and at 

all levels of participation.

• Establish external grant application support 
process 

• Accessibility fund for equipment and 
facilities to increase accessibility (e.g.
changing toilets national initiative)

• Expand bursary schemes to include adults 
and older categories, disadvantaged, 
disabled and BAME athletes 

• Alumni of previous winners to return in 
support

• Increasing KS2 outcomes and youth activity 
levels (working with Tenterden Schools Trust 
& KCC schools)

INCREASE
Increase opportunity, training and 
development to raise standards.

• Staff & instructor recognition programme
• Local coach/instructor directory and network to 

training and grants
• Encourage specialist workshops and masterclasses

FUNDING
Source funding and equipment to 

distribute in line with our
objectives.

• Identify and source additional third-party support 
for local initiatives to further objects

• Grant distribution programme to relevant 
individuals and organisations to further objects

• Digital on-line giving

COLLABORATE
Collaborate with agencies in 

Tenterden 
and surrounding areas to improve 

the opportunities for activity.

• Strengthen MyTenterden and other digital platform 
networks to present coordinated list of facilities and 
contacts

• Strengthen Tenterden Leisure Centre User Group
Forum 

• Partnership with Tenterden Town Council for
tennis and Recreation Ground Social Health 
programming

• Liaise with local sports & community organisations 
including the Civil Society and Tenterden 
Neighborhood Plan

GOVERNANCE & 
REPORTING

• Establish annual reporting and outcome protocols 
Policy review (Financial sustainability, Audit, Risk 
register, ESG, inclusivity and equality, H&S, 
Safeguarding, Data Protection etc.)

• Charity commission & Company house compliance 
• Establish youth & diversity panel
• Review succession planning

APPENDIX C – KEY OBJECTIVES 

8

P
age 9



APPENDIX D – PARTNERS

9

P
age 10



APPENDIX E – REFERENCES 

Ashford 2030 local plan 

Tenterden and rural sites 
development plan  adopted
October 2010

Sport England Strategy
Uniting the movement

Online Jan 2021

Tenterden Neighborhood Plan
Draft 2020

10

P
age 11

https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/qfvnonan/tenterden-and-rural-sites.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/news/new-strategy-puts-sport-and-physical-activity-heart-nations-recovery
https://tenterdenneighbourhoodplan.org/wp-content/uploads/TTC-Planning-Committee-Presentation-201207.pdf


TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL – EXTERNAL COMMITTEE  
 

HIGH STREET REGENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

NOTES OF A MEETING ON THURSDAY, 11 MARCH 2021 
 
Present: M. Bartlett (TDCC), A. Bates, Cllr. M. Carter (Chair), Ms. E. Ditton, 

Cllr. Mrs. S.  Ferguson, M. Freeman, Mrs. K. Nolan-Lyons (Town Centre & 
Tourism Co-ordinator) and Cllr. R. Quinton.  Mrs. C. Gilbert (Deputy Town Clerk) 

took notes. 
 
In attendance:  Cllrs. Miss. A. Gardner & Cllr. C. Knowles. 

 

45 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 
Cllrs. Mrs. J. Curteis, J. Nelson and P. Clokie (ABC). 

 
46 MINUTES. 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11th February 2021 were approved. 
 

47 MATTERS ARISING. 

 
(a) Minute 43(c) – Hydrogen Buses.  It was noted that this scheme is 

being investigated by both the Town Council’s Climate Change 
Sub-committee and the Civil Society. 
 

(b) 20mph Speed Limits – Tonbridge.  Cllr. Sue Ferguson reported the 
consultation closed on 3 March 2021.   The trial remains in 

operation whilst other monitoring and evaluation work is 
completed.  The trial will run for a minimum period of 12 months 
(until 30 July 2021) but can run for up to 18 months (until January 

2022). The aim by KCC is to communicate the outcome of the trial 
by October 2021.  Sue also reported that the Civil Society are also 

exploring a reduction in the speed limit through Tenterden. 
 

48 CONCEPT DRAWINGS OF TENTERDEN HIGH STREET. 

 
The background paper to accompany the concept drawings to KCC was 

reviewed.  Emily Ditton asked whether something about what materials 
could be used can be added to the document, i.e. material for the 
widened footpaths.  Cllr. Mike Carter reported that when the Tenterden 

Improved Team were looking at improving the high street, they did 
discuss materials with KCC to ensure the right product was used.   

 
Alan Bates raised his concerns over the size of the roundabouts; they are 

not technically feasible in their current form.  Alan suggested seeing if 
there was a software package available to accurately work out if they are 
technically feasible. Mike Carter was keen to send off the current concept 

drawings to KCC to gauge their comments first.   
 

Cllr. Roger Quinton raised his concerns about the drawings, particularly 
focusing on the sketches provided by Alan and the sizing.  Roger 
commented that when the roundabouts are compared to the new Beacon 

Oak Road one, they would need to be substantial.  Roger felt that 
installing roundabouts would not be to regenerate the high street and 

suggested taking a step back to think of the things that would regenerate 
i.e. more seating, flowers, wider pavements and free parking. They would Page 12

Agenda Item 8



 

bring in more tourists and traffic. Roger also raised his concerns that the 
views of the Town’s businesses and shop keepers had not been sought.  

 
Cllr. Sue Ferguson reported that the Government are very keen on 

stopping the red tape and getting towns back on track, but was unsure 
whether this would apply to roundabouts given the law on sizing.  Sue felt 
that we do need smaller roundabouts, but also a way to slow the traffic 

down.  
 

Alan reported that most of the rules about designing roads fall under the 
Road Traffic Act and all the roadsides are covered by it.  Alan felt that it 
would be technically impossible for a lorry to get round the roundabouts 

currently proposed in the concept drawings; going forward we would need 
advice from the professionals.  Alan further raised his concerns as one of 

the roundabouts would take out three mature trees on the high street.  
Mike Carter reported that this is not a scenario we would want to happen 
and that is why we need KCC’s comments.  The suggested scheme is for 

the next 20/30 years, not the next five.   
 

Sue suggested including Emily’s comments on types of materials to be 
used in the background paper and also add a note about retaining the 

high street trees if possible.  Mike Carter suggested all the comments are 
included in the background paper and then be sent off to KCC as we 
would ideally want them to include the ideas in their plans for next 20/30 

years.  
 

Keli Nolan-Lyons reported that by asking businesses for their comments 
on the concept drawings, the first question will be how much will it cost? 
We would need to know the figures.  Mike Carter reported that Tent1b is 

in the pipeline for being built and a roundabout at the top of Recreation 
Ground Road could be included to cope with the increase in traffic, for 

which the developer would be responsible for funding. 
 
Cllr. Callum Knowles reported that there was recently a High Court case 

regarding Section 106 monies (Newbury case).  For the imposing of road 
adjustments, it has to be a material consideration and the impact of that 

development on that particular issue to stand.  It would need to be 
related to the highways survey of the impact to go through planning.  
Callum reported that we would need to look at the master plan when it is 

produced to see how the traffic will flow and then this would highlight 
whether Tent1b would be directly responsible for a road adjustment.   

 
Sue reported that the Churchill development (Smallhythe Road) planning 
application has been resubmitted and they are already talking about 

highways changes to the West Cross layout.  
 

It was agreed that the section in the background paper regarding 
allocating funds should be changed from ‘in the near future’ to ‘towards 
looking forward to the next 10, 20 and 30 years’.  

 
Emily reported that the intentions in the concept drawings are good and 

perhaps why the roundabouts should be there should be stated.  Perhaps 
we need to emphasise why that decision has been made and that it might 
not be the best solution, but this is why we think it might work.  Things to 

include are improvement of the traffic flow of Tenterden high street; 
reduction in bus fumes outside shops, etc.   

Page 13



 

 
It was agreed that Mike Bartlett, Mike Carter and Matt Freeman would 

review the background paper in light of the comments from this meeting 
and recirculate to the Committee for final sign off.  

 
49 UPDATE ON KCC WORK PROPOSALS FOR 2021/22 AND 2022/23. 

 

The Deputy Town Clerk, Claire Gilbert, provided an update on the current 
position.  The Town Council has agreed to put forward to KCC the Oaks 

Road/Golden Square/East Hill works for the 2021/22 financial year and 
Bridewell Lane/Highbury Lane for the 2022/23 financial year. 
 

50 ANY OTHER BUSINESS. 
 

Mike Carter reported that he had been discussing with Keli how to 
regenerate the high street and also the impact of Brexit on businesses.  
Keli reported that help is out there for everyone to understand, including 

the opportunity to ask the experts at Invicta Chamber.  There is a 
helpline for businesses and this provision has been extended.   

 
Keli had been speaking to many businesses regarding the ‘Maybe’ offer; 

she had contacted 45 businesses, but only 14 have engaged so far.  Keli 
reported that information is also being uploaded regarding help for 
businesses on the Town Council’s website and people should be directed 

there.  It can be found under ‘The Council’ and is called ‘Business Support 
& Funding’ and is updated approx. twice weekly.   

 
Keli further reported that the Town Council are holding their Covid Sub-
committee meeting on Monday, 15th March to discuss what help we can 

provide to businesses which is both legal and within out remit.  The 
outcome of this meeting will be fed back to this Sub-committee. 

 
51 DATE OF NEXT MEETING. 

To be confirmed. 

 

Page 14



External Committee 12th April 2021 
Circulation of High Street Regeneration Sub-committee’s  

Concept Drawings and Background Paper 
 
 
 

The background explanatory paper that will accompany the High Street Regeneration Sub-
committee’s concept drawings for Tenterden High Street has now been sent off to Kent 
County Council (KCC) for consideration.  At previous External Committee meetings, it was 
agreed that this document and the drawings should only be sent to KCC and their identified 
partners, as well as the Tenterden Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group. 
 
We have since received a request from Mike Bartlett who is one of the authors of the 
document, to circulate this information to the Tenterden & District Chamber of Commerce 
for their views.   
 
The view of the Town Council has been that these ideas would not be circulated to the 
public in their current form until KCC had provided some feedback on whether these ideas 
were viable.  Consideration should also be given to which other groups might come forward 
and make the same request. 
   
 
Proposal:   to consider if it is appropriate to circulate the concept drawings and 

background document to the Tenterden & District Chamber of Commerce.  
 
 

 
 
Claire Gilbert 
Deputy Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact  : None  
 

Page 15



TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL – EXTERNAL COMMITTEE  
 

CLIMATE CHANGE SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

NOTES OF A MEETING ON THURSDAY, 25 MARCH 2021 
 
Present: Cllr. P. Clokie, Mrs. J. Colvin, Cllr. J. Crawford, Mrs. G. Gandolfo, Cllr. 

K. Mulholland, Cllr. R. Quinton (chair) and Cllr. Mrs. K. Walder.  Mr. P. Burgess 
(Town Clerk) and Mrs. S. Smith (Admin Assistant) 

 

63 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 
None. 

 
64 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING. 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 4th February 2021 were 

agreed.  
 

65 MATTERS ARISING. 
None.  
 

66 TERMS OF REFERENCE. 
The minimum number of Tenterden Town Councillors on this sub-

committee is four, with a maximum of five; another application has been 
received and will be considered at the next External Committee Meeting. 
 

It was noted that no further Climate Change meetings are planned this 
Council year and re-elections to committees and sub-committees will take 

place from the Annual Town Council meeting onwards. 
 

67 CARBON FOOTPRINT. 

The committee discussed undertaking a Carbon Footprint for Tenterden 
so that we have a baseline to improve on. This will only include items 

directly under the control of the Town Council. 
 
Cllr. Crawford has contacted Frome Council who have completed their 

assessment, to enquire about their experiences of the process and Cllr. 
Mrs. Walder will contact Ashford Borough Council to enquire about theirs.  

 
The Town Clerk informed the committee that the Accounts Clerk, Mrs. J. 
McCollum, had begun this exercise using the year 2019/2020, as this last 

year is completely non comparative due to Covid, but as we have thirteen 
electricity bills, some of which were only estimated, it may take some 

time to collate the figures. Cllr. Crawford agreed that 2019/2020 was the 
best place to start but it may be worth looking at 2018/2019 as well, to 

look at trends.  
 
Cllr. Mrs. Walder asked the Town Clerk to thank Mrs. McCollum. 

 
68 SOLAR PANELS. 

The committee discussed a possible business plan whereby Tenterden 
Town Council as a separate company, would fund the installation of solar 
panels on roofs of local businesses and sell the electricity generated to 

the business at a cheaper tariff than is charged by electricity companies. 
Any unused electricity would be sold back to the grid.  

  
Cllr. Quinton advised that he has spoken to several businesses, some of Page 16



 

whom are keen and have asked for more information.  
 

It was agreed that such a plan will take time to form and comes with 
several risks, quicker results towards achieving carbon neutrality may be 

better in achieved other ways.  
 
Mrs. J. Colvin will contact a speaker from a recent seminar she attended, 

who talked about energy hubs and projects which have been taken 
forward, to request more information.  

 
69 RECYCLING AREA AT THE REAR OF THE LEISURE CENTRE. 

The committee discussed the possibility of extending the recycling area at 

the rear of the Leisure Centre. The current area is large enough for the 
Maintenance Team composting but not for public recycling bins. It may be 

possible to extend into the recreation ground as it is owned by Tenterden 
Town Council but Ashford Borough Council would have to be approached 
to extend into the coach parking bays. 

 
Cllr. Mrs. Walder will contact Mrs. C. Norman at ABC to enquire whether a 

decision has been made on siting recycling bins in the Bridewell Lane Car 
Park.  

 
The committee agreed that recycling areas need to be in locations that 
people pass by regularly and do not have to go out of their way for.  

 
Mrs. J. Colvin suggested that TerraCycle mobile collection points, 

organised once a month, could be set up in certain locations.   
 

70 SOLAR PANELS ON COUNCIL BUILDINGS. 

Mr. P. Burgess, the Town Clerk, informed the committee that the Internal 
Committee had agreed to install solar panels on St. Michael’s 

Maintenance Facility.  ABC just need to confirm that it can go ahead.  The 
Changing Places facility and solar panels on the old tractor shed are being 
referred back to council.  

 
71 HOMEWOOD SCHOOL RECYCLING FACILITIES. 

Cllr. Mrs. Walder commented that she will be speaking to a member of 
staff at Homewood School regarding recycling but with the current Covid 
situation recycling is not top of their agenda. 

 
Cllr. Quinton commented that the huge roof space on Homewood School 

buildings could accommodate somewhere in excess of 400 solar panels 
which could generate 160kWh of electricity.  
 

72 EMAIL FROM UK POWER NETWORKS 
The email received form UK Power Networks was noted.  

 
73 EVCP SCHEME IN CAR PARKS. 

Cllrs. Mulholland and Mrs. Walder will make a strong case for EVCP’s in 

Tenterden car parks at the next cabinet meeting at ABC.  
 

74 ANY OTHER BUSINESS. 
Cllr. Mulholland commented that the Ashford in Bloom competition that is 
coming back this year, has seven categories, one of which is Best 

Environmental Garden, and he would like to encourage Tenterden 
residents to enter, details are on the Ashford Borough Council website 

Page 17



 

and in the Ashford For You Spring Newsletter.  
 

Mrs. J. Gandolfo asked if any initiatives had been taken by the council on 
the 20 is Plenty campaign. The Town Clerk advised that the information 

had been circulated to councillors. Cllr. Mrs. Walder commented that KCC 
are running two 20 is Plenty trial projects at the moment, one in 
Faversham.   

 
75 DATE OF NEXT MEETING. 

The next meeting will be held in the new council year after councillor 
members have been appointed to committees.  
 

Cllr. Mrs. Walder commented that it would be good to have a joint 
meeting with the Wildlife Committee at some point.  

 

Page 18



Page 1 of 3 

 

TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL 
EXTERNAL COMMITTEE 

 
Covid 19 Sub-Committee 

 

 
Notes of a meeting conducted by Zoom on Monday, 15th March 2021. 
 

No Item Action 

1 Present: Cllrs. M. Carter, Mrs. J. Curteis, Mrs. S. Ferguson, H. 
Hickmott, C. Knowles, Dr. L. Lovelidge, K. Mulholland, Mrs. P. 
Smith, A. Sugden.  Town Clerk, Deputy Town Clerk and Mrs. K. 

Nolan-Lyons.  

2 Apologies.  Cllrs. J. Crawford and J. Nelson. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest.  Cllr. Mrs. Smith declared an interest 
in the parking bays near her High Street shop and also the West 
end of the high street.  Cllr. Mrs. Ferguson declared an interest 

in Amy’s Pantry, Potters and This Ancient Boro’ due to them 
being members of MyTenterden.  

4 Chairman.  Cllr. Mrs. Ferguson. 
 

5 Minutes of Last Meeting.  24th September 2020 were 
approved.  

6 Matters arising. None.    

7 Important dates to note. 

(a)  12th April - retail, outdoor hospitality, self-catering 
accommodation etc. 

(b) 17th May - indoor hospitality, Hotels, all entertainment. 
(c) 21st June - removal of most restrictions.  

8 Parking and suspended bays.   
(a)  ABC has agreed to extend the free parking until 21st June 

2021 at both the Leisure Centre and Station Road Coach 

Park as are currently in place. 
(b) Bay suspensions – ABC has requested a gradual reduction 

in closed off bays. Phil reported that the request has been 
received from ABC to re-open East cross Layby and remove 
the Costa barriers.  Mike would prefer them all to stay 

closed off and could see no reason to remove them until we 
are further out of the pandemic.  The idea of closing the 

layby completely for the businesses outside Amy’s Pantry 
& This Ancient Boro’ was discussed. 

(c) Potential for Flower planters in bays to replace the barriers 

were discussed.  ABC are against this proposal but KCC 
would have final say.  KCC officers are to visit Tenterden 

this week to make a final ruling on this as well as the 
suggestion of table licences for within the barriered areas 

below.   
East Cross – it was suggested to consider closing this area 
completely.  Sue had spoken to Potters and they are happy 

for ¾ of the layby to close as long as their delivery lorries 
have space to offload.  Phil reported that we did try to close 

the layby before but it was refused by KCC and was even 
escalated to MP Damian Green.  Sue reported that the 
Government have put out a letter about removing red tape 

for local councils.  Phil reported that unfortunately there is 
no legislation to back this up.  Claire reported that we need 

to agree on a timeframe for closing the layby to present to 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 Page 19



Page 2 of 3 

 

KCC; it was agreed to ask for ¾ of the bay to be closed for 

a five-week period from 12th April 2021. The existing 
barriers would be moved to the entrance and exit areas to 
protect the layby.  If KCC refuse to close the layby, it was 

agreed that we would need to keep the barriers in place for 
safe passage of pedestrians.  Keli reported that Amy’s 

Pantry will not be opening in April unless there is more 
available outside seating.  This Ancient Boro’ are keen to 
open up in April.   

Costa barriers – Mike reported that it is one of the busiest 
areas so the barriers should be kept as well as the others.  

Keli commented that they keep people safe so all should 
stay as are for now and not spend extra money replacing 
them with something different.  Pam wanted to keep the 

barriers but agreed that the aesthetics of them looked 
unwelcoming.  Mike reported that we are only talking about 

a five-week period so stick with barriers and put concrete 
posts in the East Cross layby if the closure is approved.  
Claire suggested putting up some visually appealing 

banners on the barriers and Mike suggested some bunting.   
It was agreed to keep all the barriers and review again 

before 17th May once we know the latest guidance.  Sue 
suggested just going for bunting rather than banners as 
this can be done quickly; this was agreed.   

 

 
 
 

PB 
 

9 Requirements from canvassed businesses.  Phil had 
circulated Keli’s feedback from the businesses that had 

responded.  Overall feedback was yes to picnic benches on the 
Recreation Ground with no requirement for benches on the East 

side of the high street. 
 
Keli has now also spoken to the Lemon Tree and they are not 

going to open until May and cannot see much changing than 
before.    

10 Tables and Chairs.  Sue asked how we are going to protect the 
picnic benches from being stolen or vandalised.  Phil reported that 

the Maintenance Team can put them in the ground safely and 
anchor them.  It was agreed that five are installed on the 

Recreation Ground and five on the greens between Montalbano 
and the War Memorial (at a cost of approximately £2,000 in total). 
Keli reminded the Committee that more litter bins need to be 

purchased and the emptying increased by the Maintenance Team.  
It was agreed that the Maintenance Team would keep an eye on 

the litter situation. 

CG 
 
 

 
 

 

11 Banners.  Banners only on railings, etc. and not to be put on 

barriers themselves.  A4 notices for businesses to advertise the 
seating areas – it was agreed to report this to businesses rather 
than issue posters.  Sue kindly agreed to update the parking 

banners ready for the extension period. 

SF/CG 

 

12 Town Hall.  Phil and Claire had their first vaccinations more than 

three weeks ago and attend the office regularly. When in together 
they wear masks in each other’s presence. An appointment 

system is being run for those who need to call in person (foreign 
pensions etc) and this will be reviewed once the other staff are 
past their vaccination plus three weeks.   

13 Any Other Business.  Mike raised the issue with Brexit and the 
hike in costs for businesses who are importing and exporting.  This 

is also causing time delays in obtaining goods.  It is starting to  Page 20



Page 3 of 3 

 

cripple local businesses and we need to try and lobby Government 

about it.  Sue reported that the Invicta Chamber are running a 
seminar tomorrow (16th March) and encouraged people to sign up 
for this.  People need to be signposted to this information.  Keli 

has spoken to several businesses and people are being directed 
to Invicta Chamber on both our website and all social media 

platforms.   

14 Date of next meeting. It was agreed to call a meeting when 

required. 

ALL 

 

 

Page 21



TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL – EXTERNAL COMMITTEE 
 

CINEMA FOCUS GROUP 
 

 
MINUTES OF A MEETING ON 30TH MARCH 2021 
 

Present: Alan Bates, Colin Campbell, Angela Chivers, Tom Evans (Chair), Cllr. 
Sue Ferguson, Claire Gilbert (Deputy Town Clerk), Paul Hale, Chris Head, Elaine 

Mahoney, Keli Nolan-Lyons (Town Centre & Tourism Co-ordinator), Carol Parkin, 
Bob Somerscales and Gill Topley. 
 

 
1. Videoconference Protocol.  Tom Evans reminded the Focus Group on the 

protocol for the meeting. 
 
2. Apologies.  Cllr. Mike Carter, Andrew Laughland, Barbara Lawrence, Nic 

Phillips and Fran Sharp.  Tom Evans reported that Fran Sharp would no 
longer be attending the Focus Group and Claire Gilbert reported that Wilfred 

Watters had also left. 
 

3. Welcome to New Members.  Tom Evans welcomed Keli Nolan-Lyons who 
is the Town Council’s Town Centre & Tourism Co-ordinator.   

 

4. Briefing and Presentation from Tenterden Cinema Ltd (TCL).   
 

Tom updated the Group on where we had got to in May 2020 with a 
presentation that covered:   
 

• Pebbles Building Feasibility Study Design and Cost Analysis; 
• Operator Interest; 

• TTC Relations and Finance Options; 
• Community Interest Company Opportunities – opportunity for CIC 

with guarantee; 

• TCL Conclusions and Recommendations. 
 

It was agreed that a copy of Tom’s presentation would be circulated to all 
members of the focus group. 

 

5.  Site Options Review. 
 

5.1 The Pebbles.  Alan Bates reported that a lot of money was being spent on 
the glazed link and to partially submerge the auditorium, so had thought of 
removing the glazed link entirely and moving the auditorium to as close as 

possible to the Pebbles and not submerge it.  It was felt that the 150 seats 
for catering was too high and the impact of this high number attracts added 

costs in kitchen capacity etc.  Alan thought that the planners might accept 
a higher roof line on the auditorium if it was the same level as the White 
Lion’s kitchen.  Claire Gilbert reported that Heritage England when they 

visited the Pebbles indicated that they were in agreement with removing 
the current extension to make the historic building more appealing, so it 

could be difficult to obtain approval for the auditorium to be up close to the 
building.   

 

Keli Nolan-Lyons suggested investigating Central Garage as a possibility for 
the cinema itself with a link to the Pebbles or White Lion for catering.  Tom 

responded that cinema providers rely on income coming from catering Page 22



which amounts to around 50%, therefore the idea of the Pebbles or White 
Lion providing catering might not be viable.  Tom reported that whichever 

project we go for, we need to keep capital expenditure down.  Paul Hale 
reported that we are going to have to work closely with the potential 

operators who will produce their own business plan which will then of course 
feed into Tenterden Cinema Ltd’s business plan. 
 

It was agreed that we need to keep open mind about The Pebbles for now. 
 

5.2 Possible Alternatives.  Tom reported that two different options are the 
greenfield (or brownfield) sites and other areas that can be developed.  Gill 
Topley asked whether something could be done in combination with the 

Leisure Centre.  Tom reported that he had discussed this with Cllr. Justin 
Nelson who is Chair of the Tenterden Leisure Centre Trust (TLCT); the 

Leisure Centre is about to be reroofed and ABC are looking at another 
possible provider instead of SERCO.  Justin indicated that he would be 
happy to liaise with the trustees on the new leisure centre plans and the 

idea of incorporating a cinema.  Keli reported that she felt it was a good 
time to have discussions with TLCT and ABC on this as it would work out 

very well with an extension on the Leisure Centre.   
 

Tom reported that he had been introduced by Andrew Laughland to Gary 
Bourne from Stanhope Plc, who operates from Elwick Place.  Gary was 
behind the build in conjunction and is happy to make any connections to 

the senior officers at ABC, developers, operators or high net worth people 
in the Borough with an interest in cinema.  Chris reported that with a 

boutique style cinema which is what the focus group are aiming for, you go 
there for the atmosphere and Chris did not feel this would fit in with the 
Leisure Centre.  Keli commented that the cinema experience will be for 

toddlers up to teens as well, so it is open to a wide range of age groups and 
not just the evening audiences.  Keli felt that with more families coming 

into the community, we need to ensure we capture them as well so there 
needs to be a broad range.  Bob Somerscales enquired whether the Leisure 
Centre car park land would be used for the cinema or will it be within the 

existing footprint; Tom reported that this was unclear at present, but if it is 
within the existing shell it would cost less.   

 
Paul Hale reported that the way to the High Street is changing with the new 
developments at Church View and Three Fields; the Leisure Centre used to 

get lost, but it is becoming a place of greater footfall.  Paul felt the whole 
area could come up in due course and there might be more of a sense of 

an entertainment venue being on the site.  Gill asked whether the cinema 
could be included in the Recreation Ground re-ordering plans; Cllr. Sue 
Ferguson reported that this is a non-starter, and the planning application is 

soon to be submitted for the reordering. 
 

Sue asked whether St Mildred’s Church could be thought of.  Tom reported 
that he had contacted Lindsay Hammond to brief him on where the Group 
were at and shared the briefing information.  Lindsay would strongly 

welcome dialogue to see if there is something we can do together, but not 
using the church itself.  The church is currently debating the future of the 

Glebe Hall site and what they should do with St Mildred’s Church Hall.  The 
suggestion was subject to the focus group’s view and it was agreed that we 
should enter a dialogue with the Estate Project Manager.  Sue suggested 

entering discussions with the Tenterden Club as well given that St Mildred’s 
Church hall is quite small.   

 Page 23



Elaine Mahoney asked whether other venues could be explored as there are 
more empty premises on the high street.  Sue reported that there are no 

empty shops big enough in the Town to house a cinema.  Highbury Hall was 
suggested as an alternative and Alan reported that it is owned by a 

charitable trust and is a possibility, so this will be kept on the table.  Any 
plans for Highbury Hall could still incorporate a community hall space, 
although this would cost a lot more.   

 
6.  Future Strategy and Next Actions. 

 
6.1 Operator Relations.  Tom reported that we must have operator support to 

keep this project going.  Gary Bourne did say to Tom that there might be 

other larger operators interested in Tenterden and others in Ashford might 
be interested in a ‘Tenterden outpost’.  Paul reported that Tenterden will 

become more of an entertainment centre than shopping experience.  Given 
the changes on the high street, it may be an idea to go back to those who 
were interested initially.  Paul commented that the currently interested 

operators look like they are going to survive the pandemic which is a really 
positive sign, but we should look to others as well in the future.     

 
6.2 Development Actions: Site, Design and CIC.  Tom reported that we need to 

start talking actively to the operators to get their feedback now and Keli 
and Paul agreed to liaise.  Paul reported that there is a potential in a new 
build to incorporate an arts centre with a gallery or performance space as 

well.   
 

Keli reported that she had attended a meeting with ABC which covered the 
Government’s ‘welcome back fund’ and the idea had been suggested that 
with the empty shops on the high street, try and put artists in there on a 

temporary basis; the funding can last up to a year.  Colin commented that 
he was not keen on using this for a temporary cinema, but it was a good 

use for vacant shops with the artists.   
 
Colin reported that we need to prioritise what we are doing to find a site 

and options on the accommodation.  We need to keep the ball rolling on all 
options and focus on the main two options; Colin did not feel the Leisure 

Centre is a possibility and should be at the bottom of the list.  The Pebbles 
is the second from the bottom of the list given the rent and listed building 
issues.  Highbury Hall and the Glebe Hall are the two front runners and 

should be pursued. 
 

Carol Parkin asked that we very strongly pursue St Mildred’s Church Hall 
and Tenterden Club as well.  Tom sees the process of speaking to Church 
first with Highbury Hall second.   

 
Tom reported that a Community Interest Company (CIC) by limited 

guarantee would be the best option and it seems a good time to set this up.  
Angela Chivers agreed and suggested keeping both the CIC and TCL going 
for now.  Tom asked for the focus group’s support on the following options, 

and all were agreed: 
• form a CIC limited by guarantee (Tenterden Neighbourhood Cinema 

CIC); 
• talking to St. Mildred’s Church; 
• moving forward with talking with operators including Keli, Andrew 

and Paul Hale. 
 

Page 24



It was also agreed to keep The Pebbles scheme on the table, but not act on 
it at present as this would involve expense which is not sensible at present.   

 
6.3 Constituency Building and Public Relations. Tom thanked Carol and Sue for 

getting conversations started about the project in the Town on Instagram, 
Facebook, etc.  The website has gone into abeyance for now.  Keli suggested 
that Sue and Carol keep posting on the Instagram page with interesting 

information, even if not local.  It will help to build momentum which would 
then lead onto support for the project as a whole.  Sue and Carol have been 

working a lot of harder on this and there are 642 followers now on 
Instagram; Facebook has 1,600 followers.  Carol reported that it had been 
hard to push this forward given we do not have a confirmed venue yet but 

will look into ideas of posting more regularly.   
 

7. Any Other Business.  Keli reported that the Sinden Theatre are looking at 
running a children’s cinema, but only running DVDs.  There is quite a 
positive link with the Sinden which we are keen to keep going.   

 
8.  Date of Next Meeting.  Monday, 10th May 2021 at 6pm. 

Page 25



External Committee 12th April 2021 
TownNet Shop-watch Radio system 

 
This scheme has been successfully running in Ashford for some years but was never  
adopted in Tenterden. It has now moved to a digital platform and the Ashford system will be 
upgraded. The Crime Safety Unit (CSU) will also upgrade the equipment already installed 
within the Town Hall at no cost to TTC. 
  
Following a meeting with Glyn Walker and Mark Mitchell of the CSU (Keli our Town Centre 
Co-ordinator also attended) the details of the scheme are shown below. A PDF of the 
advantages of the scheme is also enclosed.  
 
The cost of the scheme to businesses is £364 p.a. (tax deductable of course) with no set up 
cost. 
 
The handsets provided have a link on the radio frequency with all other businesses within 
the scheme in Tenterden and St Michaels only.  The previous scheme left the channel open 
from Ashford and messages not appropriate to Tenterden were broadcast. This time the 
frequency will be separate from the Ashford facility. 
 
Police, PCSOs and CEO’s will have access to the frequency and users will be able to 
communicate with each other as well as the Ashford CCTV monitoring centre. There can 
therefore be an immediate response to train the CCTV on an affected area for shoplifting or 
ASB problems. The monitoring centre at ABC does have a police radio for urgent situations. 
 
The handsets will also have a panic button for lone workers which leaves the channel open 
and other scheme users can come to their aid and which will alert the monitoring centre. 
Communications are recorded and can be used as supporting evidence. 
 
Users will be notified of suspected shoplifters expected in the area by APAC. 
 
The scheme will be fully compliant with GDPR regulations which some WhatsApp groups 
may not be. 
 
The upgrade will take place in Ashford on 16th May and the CSU/APAC will be looking to roll 
it out in Tenterden within a month or so of that date. CSU will arrange meetings with 
Ashford users and a forum to discuss if required. Prior to the Tenterden system going live, 
CEOs will test the frequency in their communications with ABC. 
 
This system allows businesses to deal with offenders collectively, this both removes the 
personal element of a single ban (as it is a shop/pub-watch system ban) and tends to create 
a partnership feel amongst businesses. 
 
The violence reduction unit are looking at this scheme in terms of securing safer places on 
the High Street for those at risk. 
 
Our Town Centre Co-ordinator will be publicising the scheme shortly amongst businesses. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 9



The original scheme attracted an offer from the Town Council to subsidise the first 
businesses to join the scheme (at the time £100 was offered to each of the first 30 scheme 
members towards first year membership but was never taken up). Generally, once some 
businesses take it up, the appeal grows and membership increases, thereby improving the 
protection. 
 
Proposal:  

1. That a subsidy be considered for the first few businesses to try the scheme.    
Number and amount to be decided. 

2. That the town council actively supports and publicises the scheme 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : Very positive 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact   : Dependent on decision – outside budget allocation 
 

Page 27



Page 28



External Committee 12th April 2021 
Climate Change Sub-committee 

 
 

Cllrs. Carter and Dr. Lovelidge have requested to join the Climate Change sub-committee 
and the appointment of Councillors to sub-committees must be approved by the Standing 
Committee. 
 
The current terms of reference for this committee specify a minimum of four councillors and 
a maximum of five.   
 
Proposal: to appoint either Cllr. Carter or Cllr. Dr. Lovelidge to the Climate Change 

Sub-committee for the remainder of the Council year.   
 
 
 

 
 
Claire Gilbert 
Deputy Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact   : None 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 10



External Committee 12th April 2021 
Coombe Lane Parking 

 
Cllr Mrs Ferguson has raised the following issue. 

“Residents in Coombe Lane have problems driving down Coombe Lane because of 

indiscriminate car parking specifically down the side of the Vine and Vine garden. Parking is 

often from very local businesses but can be anyone. If a large car or van parks eg a 4x4 in 

the Lane then residents can’t get past, also delivery drivers can’t get through, neither can 

emergency vehicles. There is access normally from the other end but it is not always 

apparent that the Lane might be blocked and then residents have to reverse up Coombe 

Lane and out onto the High Street by the bus stop. Emergency vehicles are delayed getting 

to their destination at times.  

A resident has now formally asked if we can start the process of double yellow lines in 

Coombe Lane from the A28 to the start of where it broadens out for the shops eg The Latte 

Lounge.  

I understand Coombe Lane is a public highway, it only becomes private after Susans Linen 

Shop” 

I can confirm that the lower part only is private (adjacent to the cemetery) so TTC can 

advocate parking restrictions in the upper part of Coombe Lane from the High Street as 

indicated in the diagram below. 

Proposal:  
1. That local residential and business properties are canvassed for their view. 
2. Approach KCC for new yellow lines should the residents/businesses be in favour. 

 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact  : Administrative expenses only 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 11



 

 

 
 

Page 31



External Committee 12th April 2021 
Installation of a Pedestrian Footpath in front of Henley View 

 
 
 

As requested at the 8th March 2021 External Committee meeting, the suggestion of Kent 
County Council (KCC) installing a public footpath in front of Henley View in St Michaels at 
the same time as installing the pedestrian crossing in front of The Spires was sent to KCC. 
 
Attached is the response we have received from KCC.  Unfortunately, KCC do not own the 
grass strip in front of Henley View, therefore this is private land.  KCC would be willing to 
consider this as a future project, but it would be from 2023/24 financial year onwards due 
to us having two projects in the pipeline.  KCC would also expect the Town Council to fund 
the initial investigations with the residents.   
 
Proposal:  (i) to consider adding this proposal to the KCC wish list from the Town 

Council for 2023/24 onwards, or abandon the suggestion. 
(ii)  if the decision is to pursue the project, KCC should be approached in 
advance of lodging a Highways Improvement Plan, with the proposal to 
compulsorily purchase a strip of land from the freeholders for the purpose 
of the footpath 

 
 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : High with hedge removal 
Budgetary Impact  : Potentially high if TTC involved 
  

Page 32

Agenda Item 12



Good morning Claire, 

 

Thank you for your email of support to our proposals to construct a new pedestrian crossing 

outside Spires on Ashford Road. 

 

We have been asked to consider the footway extension along Ashford Road outside Henley 

View by the county Councillor, Mr Mike Hill, who has contacted us on behalf of the Mayor of 

Tenterden, Cllr Curtis. 

 

Unfortunately the land fronting Henley View is not in Highway Authority ownership, and this 

has been confirmed by an initial search on HM Land Registry and therefore we do not have 

any rights to develop this area of land. 

 

Should a scheme be progressed to extend the footway along this section of Ashford Road 

we would need agreement from the land owners and a legal transfer of the land that would 

be required. There would likely be cost implications in obtaining the land in both legal fees 

and compensation to land owners should they be willing to give up the land. 

 

I am sorry but this is not a scheme that we currently have any funding allocated for, and it is 

likely that it will be costly in both officer time and fees to progress so it is unlikely that this we 

will be a project that we can take forward in the near future. 

 

Alternatively, the Town Council may wish to progress this is a scheme which they would 

fund? If this is the case you would need to add this to your current Highway improvement 

Plan, although there are already two other schemes waiting to progress on your list. If you 

do decide to progress this as a future scheme we would expect the Town Council to carry 

out the initial discussions and agreements with the land owners and residents of Henley 

View. 

 

 

Kind Regards 

 

Darren Hickman | Schemes Project Manager (Schemes Planning and Delivery) | 

Highway Asset Management | Ashford Highway Depot, Javelin Way, Ashford, TN24 

8AD 

| www.kent.gov.uk | @kent_cc 

 

Page 33

http://www.kent.gov.uk/
http://www.twitter.com/kent_cc


External Committee 12th April 2021 
Memorial Benches on the High Street 

 
 

With the impact of Covid and the sad losses of relatives, we have seen a dramatic increase 
in the request for benches on the High Street.  We currently have a waiting list of 6 requests 
with a 7th in the pipeline.   
 
I have consulted with our Site Manager and have identified only one possible position for a 
bench, but this will require groundwork for its safe installation and KCC’s approval would 
need to be sought before offering this to those on the waiting list. 
 
We have been advising residents that there may be the opportunity once the Recreation 
Ground has been reordered to put a memorial bench there, but this could be another year 
down the line as well.   
 
I have noticed that there are several benches around the town that are beginning to look 
past their best and might need replacing.  Would the Town Council consider purchasing 
replacement benches with a large back rail that could accommodate up to three memorial 
plaques?  The cost would of course fall to the Town Council and benches cost around £350 
upwards.  The original plaque would need to be transferred to the new bench, but it could 
be stipulated that any further plaques added must be paid for by the resident and is only for 
a maximum period of 10 years.  This date restriction would be similar to that of some other 
towns as it then gives others the opportunity to eventually add a plaque.  For the new 
benches, a restriction to the placing of flowers next to the bench should be reduced to once 
per year to allow for three sets to be placed at different times. 
 
It is worth noting that currently the Town Council monitor and maintain 95 benches around 
Tenterden & St Michaels.  Keeping the benches in good order is extremely time consuming 
and can only really be carried out in the winter.  Currently, the Maintenance Team can only 
strip down and re-stain up to 6 per year.   
 
Proposal:   (i)  To consider replacing up to a maximum of three older benches in 2021. 

(ii)  To offer residents on the waiting list the option of adding a plaque subject  
       to the 10-year condition. 
(iii) To reduce the allowance of placing flowers next to the bench to once per   
       year, per memorial. 

 
 

 
Claire Gilbert 
Deputy Town Clerk 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact  : Approximately £1,050 for 2021 

Page 34

Agenda Item 13



External Committee 12th April 2021 
Portable Toilets for Tributes in the Park Event 

 
 
 

The Tributes in the Park Event is due to take place on Saturday, 24th July 2021 at St Michaels 
Recreation Ground.  In previous years, St Michaels Community Group have provided a 
couple of portable toilets to cope with the number of visitors in addition to our disabled 
toilet and two cubicles.   
 
We have recently had issues with a slight back up again of waste from the toilets due (we 
believe) to the eco toilets which do not provide the force of water the pipes need to clear 
the waste and also due to the design of the pipework where it enters into Jireh Chapel’s 
pipe system.  This does in the future need further investigation in conjunction with Jireh 
Chapel. 
 
In the meantime, given that Tributes will have been the only local music event to take place 
for some time, it is expected that there will be a large crowd.  We would like to propose that 
the two cubicles on the toilet block are closed during the event, but the disabled toilet 
remain open for disabled users only.  As we will be removing this provision, we would like to 
suggest that in place of the cubicles, the Town Council funds three additional portable 
toilets on top of the three that Tributes are providing at a cost of £203.75 plus VAT including 
delivery and collection.    
 
 
Proposal:   to fund the provision of three portable toilets for the Tributes in the Park 

event at a cost of £203.75 plus VAT.   
 
 

 
 
Claire Gilbert 
Deputy Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact : unbudgeted, however, saving on water and electric from  

  closed cubicles. 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 14



External Committee 12th April 2021 
Litter Pick 

 
 

To note the proposed date of Sunday 13th June for the next formal litter pick. The pickers 
and hoops have already been purchased for the purpose. Poster is attached. 
 
For the first time we will conduct a two-centre operation including St Michaels Recreation 
Ground. 
 
There have been enquiries recently from local individuals and groups requesting loan of our 
equipment. This is a very positive development and can only do the town good. 
 
Now that we have our own equipment, we are able to facilitate this as long as there is an 
undertaking that the litter pick is at their own risk and one person is responsible for 
returning the equipment in good order.  The paperwork will strongly advise against litter 
picks on unpaved roads.  
 
 
Proposal: That the Town Council should continue with formal organised events but 

encourage and publicise equipment loan for further litter picks in the Parish 
of Tenterden. 

 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : Beneficial 
Budgetary Impact   : Admin time only 
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 15



Volunteer Litter Pick in Tenterden & St. Michaels 

Sunday, 13th June 2021 from 10am to 12pm 

Meet near the Public Toilets,  

Tenterden Recreation Ground or at the Maintenance Facility at 

St.Michael’s Recreation Ground. 

All equipment - litter pickers, bags, gloves,   

high visibility tabards - will be provided, but feel free to bring your own 

ALL VOLUNTEERS WELCOME,  

COME AND JOIN US! 

Organised by Tenterden Town Council 

Contact:  Tenterden Town Council,  

Town Hall, 24 High Street, Tenterden.   

Tel:  01580 762271 or email:  

townhall@tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk 

GREAT BRITISH SPRING CLEAN 

Page 37



Document is Restricted

Page 38

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1



Document is Restricted

Page 40

By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1


	Agenda
	7 TENTERDEN LEISURE CENTRE TRUST.
	8 SUB-COMMITTEE & WORKING GROUP REPORTS.
	EXT8a High Street Regeneration Sub-committee Circulation of Concept Plans
	EXT8b 25.03.21 Climate Change Minutes
	EXT8c Covid19 sub-comm 15th March 2021
	EXT8d Cinema Focus Group minutes 29.03.21

	9 TOWNNET SHOP WATCH RADIO.
	EXT9 TownNet APAC Leaflet A5

	10 CLIMATE CHANGE SUB-COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP.
	11 COOMBE LANE PARKING.
	12 PUBLIC FOOTPATH IN FRONT OF HENLEY VIEW.
	13 MEMORIAL BENCHES ON THE HIGH STREET.
	14 PORTABLE TOILETS FOR TRIBUTES IN THE PARK EVENT.
	15 LITTER PICK 2021.
	EXT15 Litter Pick Poster 13th June 2021

	18 LAND ISSUES.
	Conf Doc 728A land to East of rec


